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PETER

He learned only many hours later that the blast had been caused by a V2 rocket, one of many to strike London in the final months of the war. He had little memory of the actual explosion; in fact, none except a blinding flash before his eyes, being tossed through the air and being unable to breathe as air was sucked from his lungs. His next memory was being carried in his mother's arms a long distance which, he realized later, must have been difficult for her because she was a slight woman, just over five foot tall, and he was a boy of eight . But then she was terrified and his weight probably didn't register on her. He heard nothing because the explosion had deafened him. When she finally put him down, kneeling at his side, he saw her clothes were splattered with blood but she bore no wounds. It dawned on him that it was his own blood that had smeared her dress as she had pressed his body to hers and run. Lying on the ground, his eyes opening and closing, she commanded him to look at her. But he couldn't hear so she smacked him in order to keep his eyes open and aware of his surroundings. 

He felt blood from a gash over his brow running into his eyes, into his ear and then looping around the back of his head before dripping away. He tried to brush it from his face with his hand but he couldn't move his right arm. Instead he used his left arm to sweep it from his eyes. Turning to his left he saw only the bare knees and shins of his mother as she crouched beside him. Turning momentarily to the right, he saw knots of people tending to wounded persons on the ground, but also motionless figures that nobody approached, and what seemed to be parts of bodies - legs, an arm, unidentifiable clumps of flesh, a head - until his mother slapped him again and turned his head towards her as he was trying to grasp what he was viewing.

He felt no pain from the cut on his face or from the arm that he couldn't move; actually, after the first effort to move it, he had been able to drag the arm closer to his side and to move the fingers on the hand. It was only when two men approached and one had bundled him in his arms and picked him up that pain from his broken arm began to register in his brain. It wasn't fierce, as he was too dazed, but it was nonetheless there. What was more noticeable was that the two men wore butcher's aprons already smeared with blood; animal's blood because they were working at Smithfield Market in Farringdon Road that day in early March, 1945 when the V2 had struck. 

With his mother, Ruth, running at their side, the men carried him to a spot in the market where medical staff from nearby St. Bartholomew's hospital were already beginning to assemble. Other casualties were converging on it, either being carried like Peter, or walking as best they could under their own power. Doctors and nurses began triage; when it was Peter's turn, he was already sitting up and his two rescuers had left in search of other victims. His mother was holding a cloth to the wound on his forehead and talking to him but he still couldn't hear her. A young doctor, a blond, tired-looking man barely into his 20s, pushed Peter flat on his back and began running his hands down both sides of his body and pressing in, feeling for entry wounds and finding none. When he had finished the doctor examined his hands that had been running down Peter's body. The hands had collected gore which had stuck to Peter's clothing from somebody close to him when the blast occurred. Looking sickened, the young doctor cleaned his hands on the ground. He had identified brain matter. He quickly lifted his still-smeared hands to the back of Peter's head and began feeling for a wound to the skull, and again found nothing. 

The doctor diagnosed a broken arm and the wound on the forehead and produced a crayon to make a green marking on Peter's face and left arm. He patted Peter's shoulder and left wordlessly to tend to others. Obviously, Peter was low priority and the green marking meant he and his mother had to wait for over two hours before a nurse finally came to fetch them. 

By the time they reached the hospital Peter had pretty well collected his wits and was in considerable pain. Pandemonium reigned at St. Bart's because, apart from killing more than 100 persons, the rocket had wounded well over 300, many in desperate condition. And many, like Peter, were children.

Ruth and Peter were parked in a courtyard with other lightly wounded and it would be hours before the hospital staff could start to treat them. The one consolation during the long wait was that there were toilets nearby where Peter could relieve his nearly bursting bladder, along with a telephone that Ruth could use to call his father to inform him they were at St. Bart's and not to worry; Peter had only a broken arm, at worst, and a cut.

The father was astonished because she had failed to tell him they were going to the market. It was a Thursday and Peter should have been in school, and Ruth at home in Willesden. But the school, already bombed out and moved to makeshift quarters, had been cancelled because three of the teachers were down with the flu, and Ruth had heard through the grapevine that a shipment of live rabbits was expected at Smithfield that day. She was determined to buy one to raise in a hutch in the garden before dispatching it to supplement their meager rations; one shilling tu'pence of meat per week per person, along with one egg, a scooping of butter and margarine. Vegetables and fruit weren't rationed, but increasingly hard to come by. Sausage also wasn't rationed but there was so little meat around in early 1945 that they were mainly filled with bread. Ruth and her husband, Harry, obviously had other sources to stave off deprivation. But a rabbit fattening up in a hutch sounded like a good proposition. While the animal awaited its fate, Peter could play with it. But Ruth was not unaware he might have trouble, when the moment came, to actually eat his playmate.

Ruth warned Harry not to come to St. Bart's because news of the devastation at Smithfield Market had brought thousands of Londoners to the hospital in search of missing relatives.

It was 13 hours after the blast that Peter was finally brought into a room that had been pressed into service for the lightly wounded; all the operating theatres were tending only the critical cases such as people in need of amputations or with deep stomach, chest or head wounds. In all, it was reported later, four teams of surgeons worked for 24 hours straight on the most serious cases. 

Nurses set Peter's broken arm by simply pulling on it to align the bones and wrapping it in white cloth and then in plaster. No X-rays were taken, as the radiology service had too many desperate cases to tend to. The nurses also stitched up his forehead. All without anesthetic as it was needed elsewhere. Peter's shock had worn off fully by then, and the two procedures hurt awfully.

His hearing returned pretty well as before, too, but he was to remain partially deaf in his left ear. While that was a slight curse in later years the "handicap" had its advantages because it allowed him to avoid doing his National Service. 

His father finally reached the hospital at 4 am with a change of clothes for both of them. Seeing Peter half asleep and moaning, Harry simply wrapped him in a blanket and carried him to a taxi for the return trip to Willesden. In coming days, Peter's body was a collection of bumps, cuts, abrasions and bruises that changed alarmingly in color as time passed. "All the colors of the rectum," Harry jokingly said, using a malapropism that had appeared in a London newspaper early in the war, to everybody's delight. With his good arm, Peter scratched at the scabs. A week later the local doctor removed the seven stitches above his eye; then, six weeks later, it was time for the cast to be shorn off. 

***

Eleven years later, at the age of 19, Peter crashed his motorbike while speeding through the City of London, the financial district where his father Harry worked as an insurance broker. The accident occurred when a driver swung open his car door without looking to see whether anybody was behind, sending Peter into a high speed dive that ended ten meters away on a sidewalk amid startled passers-by. An ambulance drove him to the hospital. Oddly enough, the establishment turned out to be St. Bart's again because the City lay within its precinct. The casualty ward doctors were mainly worried about his left knee which had struck the curb on his descent and had already begun ballooning to almost twice its natural size.

He was wheeled into the X-Ray department for images of the knee and lower femur. As suspected, the kneecap was fractured and there was some damage to ligaments and the lateral meniscus, but the articulation to the femur hadn't suffered unduly; it was an injury that would keep Peter in hospital for a number of days, but allow him to shortly start getting around on crutches.

But what caught the doctors' attention on the X-ray image was a foreign object in Peter's thigh. Deeply embedded, it was surrounded by fibrous matter and had obviously been lodged there for years. Had it been close to the surface, smaller and less solid in appearance, it might have been a cyst. Unable to figure out what it was, the two technicians called in the hospital's chief radiologist. At first the senior couldn't identify it either, initially thinking it might be a bomb fragment or even a small caliber bullet. But the object wasn't sharply edged or curled as a deep-penetrating fragment would have been or misshapen like a bullet that had made its way through tough muscles.

The doctor asked Peter whether he had suffered a leg wound some years ago. "Not that I remember," he replied. He was in considerable pain and not interested in what was exciting the interest of the medical staff. The doctor ordered fresh X-rays of the femur and went off to find a colleague while they were being developed. 

On his return, the head radiologist held a magnifying glass to the object, then passed it to the other doctor he had summoned. 

"Christ, it's a tooth," the new doctor exclaimed. "Damned if it isn't a tooth."

"A human tooth," added the chief radiologist, rather needlessly. 

He turned to Peter with the look of someone who thought himself in the presence of a werewolf. "C'mon, kiddo. Let's have a look at that leg."

Using the magnifying glass again, the doctors eventually discovered a puncture scar on Peter's thigh that seemed roughly in line to where the foreign body and ended up, although it could be assumed the tooth - indeed, they again concurred, it was a tooth - shifted half an inch or so inside the surrounding muscle as Peter's left leg moved.

"Can you explain this? " the lead doctor asked Peter.

"A tooth? Sorry, no." He tried to think of something witty to add but gave up.

"The hospital records show you were admitted and in March, 1945 and treated for minor injuries. That was the Smithfield Market bomb, wasn't it?"

Peter nodded. The doctors thought for a long moment. One said quietly to the other: "I saw it in field hospitals in Normandy." then turned back to Peter.

"When the rocket hit were you standing close to somebody who was blown up? one of them inquired. "That might explain the tooth." 

"I can't remember much about that day," Peter replied.

Later, that evening, his mother Ruth was at his bedside in the huge ward in which he had been admitted. She had already talked with the doctors and knew about the tooth but seemed more concerned about his knee. Knowing it wasn't too serious, Peter was far more intrigued about the tooth.

"What do you remember in the minutes and seconds before the blast?" he asked his mother. "They wanted to know whether somebody was close to me when the rocket hit."

Ruth put her fingers to her temple as if to show she was concentrating.

"You had broken away from me and were running about 60 yards ahead," she said. "There was no sound as the rocket came in, just an enormous bang when it hit the ground. I think you were only some feet away from a skinny young woman, maybe 20 or 25, who was mousy, poorly dressed -- weren't we all at the time - and a little stooped. Perhaps she was carrying a bag. When the blast occurred, you flew off to the right and she simply disintegrated before my eyes. She wasn't there any more. I immediately raced after you and gave her no further thought."

"So when she disintegrated, as you say, one of her teeth might have gone into my leg?" Peter asked.

"I can't think of any other logical explanation."

"So I have this unknown woman's tooth in my leg."

"It looks like it."

When the doctors did their rounds the following morning, they told Peter there was no need to operate on the injured knee; he would have to remain completely immobile for a few days and then be fitted with a cast. Rehabilitation would take place in coming months. After talking with Ruth they also seemed to agree about the tooth's probable origin.

"Should I have an operation to remove it?" Peter asked.

"That's up to you, of course," said the doctor. "But it's not going to do you any harm; I mean, it won't ever move around to the point of blocking an articulation or pressing against an artery."

The doctor quickly added that thousands of war veterans were walking around with shrapnel, splinters and bullets in their bodies that were never removed, and were no worse for the wear. "I know of one old sod from the Great War who still has a pound of metal clanking about in him," the doctor said. 

"It feels strange having somebody's tooth in me," Peter said.

"I can imagine so, but it's your decision. There's no medical reason to remove it."

Peter didn't take long to decide to keep the tooth. Although he couldn't articulate it properly he felt that having the tooth of an unknown girl - skinny, mousy, poor, probably only a year or two older than he was now - in his body meant she was not entirely dead. In some way, he figured, part of her would live on with him.

***

Four days later Peter was trying out his new crutches on a flat roof that extended from the main part of the hospital and served as a walking area on the top of St. Bart's new out-patients' department. Peter was the only person on the roof and advanced slowly on the gravel, breathing fresh air and glad to get away from the crowded ward. In front of him was a raised sky-light giving on to the out-patients department. He walked over to look down. Directly beneath his gaze was a cubicle with a closed door but an open ceiling. On a small bed lay a girl, completely naked, who had placed her clothing carefully on a chair and was obviously waiting to be examined. She was looking downwards and didn't notice his presence. She was plain and skinny with long dark hair and her breasts were small, with flat pink nipples. Her hip bones protruded and she had very little pubic hair, only a small triangle. Her legs were thin and bony, her knees knobby. Her arms lay motionless at her side. To Peter, there was nothing erotic in the vision; it aroused not the least sexual stirring in him. After a minute, fearing she might look up and discover him, Peter moved on. He felt troubled. For a reason he couldn't explain, the girl made him think of the woman whose tooth, he had just learned, was lodged in his body.


THOMAS

Like thousands of other women and children who had been ordered to leave Breslau as Soviet troops closed in on the Silesian capital in late January, 1945, Ulrika and Thomas converged on the main railway station where trains were said to be still leaving for the west. Even penetrating the crowd around the station was an exploit but Ulrike, a strong, tall, wide-shouldered woman in her mid-30s managed to make a way for herself and Thomas and then breach the terrified, heaving wall of refugees fighting to climb aboard a train. She dragged Thomas through an open carriage door. A man in a train conductor' uniform tried to kick her to keep them out; there was not an inch of standing room left. But she just forged ahead, her left arm clutching Thomas, and when she reached the waist level of the man who had kicked at her she punched him mightily in the balls. As he bent over, gasping, Ulrike literally climbed over him and somehow found space for herself and Thomas.

The conductor, once he recovered, thought of trying to eject them but other refugees were pushing to get aboard and he instead had to fight them off. Amid something approaching pandemonium, the whistle blew and the train began to lurch out of the station. However, the conductor couldn't close the door because it was jammed with people still standing on the car's steps and trying to force their way in. As the train picked up speed, clearing the station to enter the freezing night, most dropped away. But a young woman with a baby in one arm and clinging to the hand-railing with the other wouldn't give up. Finally, with a desperate look on her face, she realized she wouldn't make it and simply threw the baby over the heads of the people on the landing, turned on the step and leaped into the darkness. The baby tossed overhead was caught by a fat, elderly woman who looked down at it, astonished.

The train advanced slowly in the snow-covered tracks, stopping on occasion and then jerking ahead again. About two hours out of Breslau it stopped altogether. The lights went out. This made everyone fear Soviet aircraft were lurking overhead and that the lights had been extinguished to prevent the train coming under attack. There was silence in the carriage which stank of fear, unwashed bodies and stale tobacco. Then some children began crying, coughing and being sick. The air became irrespirable and the conductor opened the door. The inrush of fresh air provided some comfort for those on the landing but it was minus 15 degrees Celsius outside so the door didn't stay open for long. Ulrike drew Thomas' body to hers for warmth.

Finally, with the train still stalled, the train's driver appeared alongside with a lamp and banged on the door. "The Ivans are all around," he announced to the conductor. "If we proceed they'll fire on us, thinking we are a troop train. Or blow the line. We have only two choices. One is for the passengers to stay aboard until dawn and the Ivans can see we're civilians and let us proceed; but there's no heating and some will freeze to death in this cold."

"What's the alternative?" inquired several people on the landing. 

"There's a train station three miles up the line, with some minimal heating," said the driver. "But it's a long walk in the snow and no guarantee you won't freeze before getting there. Or run into Russki patrols."

The conductor explained the situation to those within the carriage, and the driver continued down the train, with the same message for other cars. After weighing the options, about 80 people aboard the train decided to attempt to make it to the station, Ulrike and Thomas among them. 

"If you get to the station tomorrow morning will you promise to let us back on," Ulrike asked the conductor. 

"Well, after being belted in the balls by you, madam, I'm not so sure," joked the conductor. "God be with you all" and - looking at Ulrike - "und du auch."

At first the going was not too difficult. The night was clear so they could easily follow the railway line; the snow was never deeper than mid-calf for the adults. But for the few children who had joined the group, like Thomas who was ten, it was knee deep and they quickly tired. That slowed down the group but the 80 or so had decided to stick together for safety's sake despite the cold that froze the hair in their nostrils and on their eyelids.

It took well over two hours to reach the station. It was closed but by the time the women with children, who had nonetheless fallen a few hundred yards behind the others, reached the building, the people ahead had raised the station master. He opened up, begrudgingly agreeing to light a small stove in the waiting room. 

Although Ulrike and Thomas were carrying a change of clothes and provisions for some days - she hoped to reach her parents' place at Eberswald, north of Berlin -they had no bedding so they had to lie down on the floor, positioning themselves just inside the waiting room's door. Thomas laid his head on the leather bag he had been carrying on his back, and snuggled up to his mother for warmth. She threw her great coat over him and he quickly fell asleep.

He was awakened by the sound of men in brown, padded uniforms moving through the crowd with flashlights. They stopped in front of Thomas' mother and beckoned her to follow them, waving rifles. They did the same with a young, flaxen-haired girl nearby. She cried out in alarm but a soldier grabbed her arm and yanked her to her feet.

The two women were marched out through a back door. The other refugees seemed to collectively hold their breath, not saying a word. Thomas lay paralyzed, not knowing what to do. Then he stood and, although somebody stretched out an arm to restrain him, he crept to the back door and stepped out. There was a lighted shed about 40 meters behind the station and footsteps in the snow leading to it. By the time he reached the shed the soldiers had already thrown themselves upon the women. Ulrike's skirt and underwear had been torn off and a Russian was between her legs. With a shout, Thomas flew forward to get the soldier off her, but another Russian stepped in his way with a dagger, stabbing him in the neck. As he dropped to the ground as if pole-axed, the man kicked him in the stomach. Ulrike screamed and tried to wriggle out from under her assailant to come to his rescue. But the man raping her slapped her harshly and clapped a hand over her mouth.

Thomas blacked out for a moment, emerging to hear the young girl lying on the further side of Ulrike screaming as she was being raped. But, holding his bleeding neck, Thomas' attention focused on his mother. A few yards from Ulrike and her assailant stood another Russian, waiting his turn, his pants around his boots and reddish, long penis already in full erection. No sooner had the first man on Ulrika shuddered and stopped moving than the second hauled him off by his collar and threw himself upon her before she could even close her legs.

The pretty girl was, if anything, faring worse. Unlike Ulrika, who had kept on her upper garments, she had been stripped naked. As her first attacker finished with her another followed, biting and scratching her breasts. Struggling to get him off her, she screaming and he delivered her a powerful blow; after a moment of unconsciousness she began moaning and calling for her mother. From her terrified, confused eyes, she did not seem to fully understand what was happening to her. 

The five soldiers in the group - a Red Army reconnaissance unit - took it in turns to rape the girl and Ulrika until they had had their full. They then stole away. Ulrike dragged herself to where Thomas was lying, using the remnants of her torn dress as a compress to staunch his wound. He was whimpering, frozen by pain but also stunned by what he had seen. When the refugees in the station realized the soldiers had left, three women and two men crept through the snow to the shed to help them. A woman had a blanket that she threw around the naked girl. A man carried her back to the station; she was now unconscious, and her crotch and thighs were smeared with blood and what seemed to Thomas to be a white substance. Her face had been repeatedly battered and both eyes were swollen shut.

The other man carried Thomas back to the shed while the women assisted Ulrike. When they reached their spot on the floor Ulrike discovered someone had stolen all their provisions, clothing and money. "Who the hell stole our things! Who's robbed us!" she bellowed, striding through the crowd. She was totally oblivious to the fact she was naked from the waist down and blood and semen were leaking down her legs. A woman tossed her a skirt, signaling to Ulrike that she should cover herself. Ulrike looked down, saw her state, and pulled on the skirt. Her great winter coat had been too big to conceal and somebody found it in a corner and carried it over to her and Thomas. During the night, as they remained in a daze, sleeping only fitfully - Thomas was in great pain - some of their provisions and spare clothing re-appeared little by little at their side. But never Ulrike's money. 

In the morning, a young Red Army doctor appeared unbidden at the station with his orderly. He indicated by hand that he would treat Thomas and the two women. A space was cleared for them in a corner and men held up a blanket to shield the three from the onlookers' gaze. The young Russian doctor spoke no German and when Ulrike tried him in English he shook his head. He began with Thomas, giving him shot of morphine and waiting for a minute or two for it to take effect. He stitched up the ugly cut on the boy's neck and applied both iodine and a powder that quickly hardened around the wound, acting as an antiseptic. His orderly bandaged the neck, winding dressing around it several times. Then the young doctor tended to Ulrika, looking between her legs, swabbing her with cotton and applying a solution whose sting made her wince. He gave her two pills to swallow. 

He then turned his attention to the girl, who had fallen into a coma and soiled herself during the night. He cleaned her up. The nipple of her left breast had been almost bitten off and was hanging by a thread. He sewed it back on, then signaled to Ulrika and the orderly to prop up her legs as he sewed up her badly torn vagina and perineum. Fortunately, she was unconscious and felt no pain. But he gave the girl a shot of morphine, anyway, choosing the same dose as he had used with Thomas as they weren't all that far apart in age; at most, she was 16 or 17.

When he was finished, the Red Army doctor put his equipment back in his bag and walked to the door with his orderly, ignoring the pleas of other refugees who wanted him to tend to them as well. When he reached the door the doctor did a strange thing. He turned around as if to address them all. He had a look of pure disgust on his face. He spat on the floor, and was gone.

***

The train they'd left the previous night did not appear for so long that most in the group began to fear it never would; the sound of artillery was getting uncomfortably close. But the train finally pulled in and, this time, there was room for everyone. Just before dawn a column of Red Army soldiers had stumbled upon it and the helpless passengers who had chosen to remain aboard. There followed an extended orgy of looting and rape. Virtually all women under 50, even those with an infants on their breasts, were raped once or several times in the aisles between the seats of the cars. The controller who had tried to keep Ulrike off the train in Breslau was shot dead in trying to defend a girl even younger than the flaxen-haired girl in the station-house shed.

The passengers were relieved of their money at gunpoint and once the soldiers had finished raping they rifled through baggage, taking what they fancied. Around 20 male passengers who looked to be of arms-bearing age were ordered off the train and simply shot. Some women who had succumbed to repeated rapes or blows were dragged to the door and thrown into the snow. Along with a few women and babies who had frozen to death during the night. 

Among the railway staff, only the driver and two conductors, who had been beaten, were aboard the train when it pulled into the station. The refugees threw themselves upon the doors, relieved to find seats. Only a handful thought to help Thomas, his mother and the girl onto a carriage. Someone had found an old dress to cover the girl's nakedness and she was now wrapped in blankets, with only her bruised face visible. She was still in a coma and nobody thought she would survive. Once the driver and station master checked that everybody was aboard the train continued its journey to the West, and to safety.

During the long hours on the train Ulrike and Thomas did not speak. Thomas, drowsy from the morphine - he discovered the pain was still there but he was somehow isolated from it and didn't suffer- fell asleep constantly. Only once did Ulrike, who spent the hours staring out of the window, lean over to him to break the silence.

"Never tell your father what happened back there in the shed," she whispered. Thomas nodded.

The injunction, however, was unnecessary. Thomas' father, Paul, never returned from the eastern front where his regiment had been fighting. No body was ever found. Three years later, Ulrike got the authorities to declare him dead and erected a small tombstone in the cemetery in Eberswald. On the stone were his name, date of birth and presumed death, and the simple inscription Gefallen in Ost. 

***

It was only many years later when Thomas was in his mid-teens that he began to understand the savagery of the Red Army towards the German refugees; why, indeed, the Red Army doctor who had treated him at the railway station had spat in disgust.

Well over a million German women were raped by the Soviet Union's soldiery as it moved westwards. The ferocity was greatest in East Prussia, Pomerania, Silesia and in Berlin. That was a huge number but it didn't weigh all that much when compared with the many millions more who perished at Germany's hands in the Soviet Union, Poland and the Baltic states in unspeakable ways. And the Soviet actions against women were perpetrated by men dehumanized by endless combat, haunted by the sight of German atrocities, half starved, inured to hardship and maddened by the need for revenge. And without women. 

The first rapes, such as Ulrike's, were strictly for vengeance. Later, as the Soviet occupation took hold, the rapes subsided and those that did occur were for the sexual release and even the comfort that could be found in a woman's body.

Thomas and Ulrike never spoke of the rape. It was a veil between them that neither wished to lift but which nevertheless dictated how they acted towards one another: cautiously but also cordially, jovially and even lovingly on occasion, but never simply. She knew Thomas had watched her being fucked by soldiers; he knew Ulrike was horrified he had been there to see it. 

After Paul was declared dead, Ulrike re-married and had two children, which made interaction between mother and son easier. The family moved to a town near Hannover because Eberswald lay in the Soviet zone. Thomas couldn't help but wonder whether she had told her new husband about the night in the shed. Knowing Ulrike, she probably had. But it was unlikely she would have mentioned Thomas' presence.

But then she would have had to make up a story to explain Thomas' scar, and implore the stepfather never to ask the boy what had happened: he never did. Thomas had to undergo surgery in Germany to correct the damage done by the soldier's dagger: a half-severed tendon which made him carry his head slightly to the left.

Thomas' thoughts often returned to the girl in the shed, whom he presumed to be dead. Although he had seen her being raped he dwelled most frequently on the scene the following day in the railway station as the doctor tended to her: her gaping vagina, the torn nipple, the blood and muck on her crotch and legs that the doctor wiped away. The smell of shit that came off her. Thomas knew the memory was unhealthy and he worked to drive it from his head as the years passed. But the vision always returned, sickening and arousing him in one. The memory could prompt an erection and even led him to masturbate on occasion, to his deep shame. The scene would later color his relations with girls.

He grew into a large, bumbling, friendly and even talkative lad who was much liked by his high school mates and by fellow conscripts when he was drafted after National Service was restored in West Germany in the mid-1950s. But girls also warmed to him, sometimes brazenly. He appreciated their attention but when Thomas was faced with an obvious advance he always found the words and the smile needed to slip away without causing offense.


VERA

In the packed cattle car on the way to Auschwitz Birkenau, Vera thought her chances lay best with the tall, attractive girl with wavy black hair who stood at the very back of the throng of women. She was pressed against the wall but holding her elbows out to avoid being crushed. Vera, a scrawny 14-year-old, slowly wriggled and pushed her way to the young woman's side, saying nothing but hoping to be noticed. Vera, from the town of Debrecen, had become separated from her parents and two brothers in the confusion reigning in the Budapest ghetto as the Jews waited to be deported. It was mid-May, 1944, and the sudden deportation of half a million Jews to Auschwitz in the space of two months tore families apart as people were pushed into train after train for the camp.

Vera had noticed the young woman shortly after she had been bundled into the cattle car. Unlike others, Vera had no baggage and she hadn't eaten anything in the past two days. She wasn't hungry but thirst caught her throat and mouth in an iron grip, swelling her tongue. Inside the stationary cattle car, Vera's eyes lit instantly on a huge tin vat containing water, and she fought her way to it. A fat, greasy-haired lady was ladling out water to each newcomer, rationing them to one cup apiece. But before the train began moving she quickly offered more to some for fear the car's movements would spill the barrel's contents. It was when Vera was gulping down her second cupful that she spied the pretty girl and started moving towards her.

In most of the trains leaving Budapest for Auschwitz that May, women and children were placed in one wagon, men in the other. But both sexes were assigned to Vera's car, with each assembled at opposite ends. They had been herded aboard by SS guards, women auxiliaries and members of Hungary's Arrow Cross movement, a fascist organization known for its brutality. Yet on this occasion they were oddly subdued, perhaps because they were too busy to indulge in nastiness.

At each end of the car was a smaller urn of water, two chamber pots and a huge tin to contain waste. As the journey began, the only words exchanged were whispers between the few people who knew one another. All stood in silence, crushed together, and each time the train lurched they lost their balance and fell against their neighbors before struggling upright again. There were a few open windows high on the wall, which let in air. Even so, it was hard to breathe and the smell quickly became oppressive, a mixture of unwashed bodies, fear and the stink that arose from the waste barrel as soon as people began emptying chamber pots into it.

Standing beside the older girl, Vera finally caught her eye and began talking to her. At first she didn't respond, seeming in a world of her own, but eventually she leveled her green eyes on Vera. "How old are you, kid?" she asked.

"Fourteen."

"When we arrive say you're 15. Otherwise they'll gas you. They consider anybody under 15 a child and send them straight to the gas chamber," the girl said.

Vera nodded. The Jews in Hungary had long known the fate of those deported to Auschwitz because they were the last community in Europe to be rounded up collectively. News from the camps had been widely circulated, and especially the fact only one in five would be spared in the selection process on arrival and sent instead to the labor camps; the others would be marched to their death.

Vera instinctively knew that the girl, whose name turned out to be Agi, would be spared because of her beauty.

The distance from Budapest to Krakow and then Auschwitz was barely 250 kilometers but the journey took 36 hours. The train kept stopping and, twice, they could hear someone placing a ladder on the car's side to climb up and toss bread and some dried vegetables through the windows. But the door remained locked. The water ran out within 12 hours and thirst became the prime torture, driving some to drink their own urine. Vera and Agi managed to make room for themselves in a corner by pushing luggage aside and the older girl held Vera to her breast. Vera was shivering because the night was cold, and even more so when the train was moving, although that drove away the foulest odors.

The train jerked to a halt at daybreak. They had been led to expect lines of brutal SS guards, barking dogs and screams as people were driven from the cattle cars. But the scene was strangely calm. People descended, dragging their baggage or were helped down by other passengers. There were indeed dogs and German soldiers yet they remained silent, looking bored. As the passengers gathered in confusion on the platform the soldiers gradually surrounded them, funneling the crowd towards men in grey uniform in the middle of the platform. As the Jews reached them, the men in grey directed women with children, persons over 60 and the train's few infirm passengers into a line leading to the left. The younger and fit were directed to the right.

When it came the turn of Vera and Agi the officer signaled Agi to the right and sent Vera to the left.

"She's with me and she stays with me," said Agi. The man looked at her, shrugged and directed Vera to the right with her. The two proceeded to the second selection, made by a man in civilian clothes sitting at a desk. Behind him stood a few SS officers in black uniform. Vera was light-headed from hunger, thirst and could barely stand, let alone gather her wits together. Agi went first and was immediately accepted for the labor barracks. Vera dug her fingernails into her hands to compose herself and stepped before the civilian. 

"How old are you, kid?" the man asked.

"Fifteen."

He smiled, dubious.

"Where are your parents, who can verify that? You look about 12"

"I don't	know, we got separated," said Vera in the German she had learned as her second language from childhood, like the offspring of all of Hungary's middle class.

The man kept smiling, and finally Vera held up her right arm, flexed her biceps and said. "I'm very strong, sir."

The man grinned and looked down, seeming about to tell her to join those bound for the gas chamber. However, a tall SS officer bent over and suggested quietly: "She's a spirited little one, doctor. Let her go."

The man nodded and told Vera to join Agi.

Along with around 50 others from the train who had been spared they climbed onto an open truck bound for the main Aushwitz-Birkenau labor camp, Auschwitz III-Monowitz. On arrival the women were separated from the men and herded into one of the female barracks. They were met by their barracks' supervisor, an Aufseherin, who led them to a building at the back, near the latrines, that contained a shower. She ordered them to undress for a shower and to pile their clothes neatly at the door. Instant terror descended upon the group because they knew it was impossible to tell a real shower from a dummy that dispensed gas. But they obeyed and stepped inside. 

Once washed, they were led to another large room where female Kapos were waiting with scissors to cut off their hair as a precaution against typhus-bearing lice. A group of women, who seemed to be inmates, then stepped forward to shave their scalps and pubic hair. The Aufseherin spared only Agi from either treatment, leaving her naked but with her luxuriant hair and a bush of pubic hair. Over the next hour, each of the naked, shaved group - but not Agi - was tattooed on the left arm by a male prisoner who seemed totally disinterested in their bodies. Vera's number was A-10267

Subsequently the women, including Agi, were given smocks and told to stand in line, then marched to a canteen where they were fed and given water. Shortly, two senior SS officers appeared and approached Agi, tapping her gently on the shoulder. "Kindly come with us," the older officer said, with a benevolent demeanor. She obeyed but managed to look at Vera, holding her gaze for a few seconds. In those instants Vera could read nothing in her regard; perhaps resignation, as if she had known all along what her fate would be, but certainly not despair nor fear. When she was led away not a soul could doubt where she was heading. The SS officers, NCO's and ordinary soldiers were known to each have their brothels at Auschwitz. Agi was going to the choicest.

The sudden influx of Hungarian Jews - up to six trains were arriving each day - threw Auschwitz into disarray, overworking the gas chambers but leaving the authorities at Monowitz in a quandary about how to employ the horde of laborers who had been spared. On some days, the women would have nothing to do; on others they would be driven to sub-camps to help out at armaments units, chemical plants and food processing lines. But as these were already manned by experienced slave laborers they proved next to useless and were immediately sent back to their main barracks. During that time Vera, like others in her case, ate reasonably well and managed to build up her strength. Scarlet fever swept through Monowitz at the end of May and the sickest were sent to the gas chamber; the cull reduced manpower quite considerably but each train brought newcomers, which meant the camp was still overcrowded. 

Finally the Germans decided to send a good number of redundant workers at Auschwitz III-Monowitz to Germany itself. After six weeks at Monowitz Vera was transferred to a sub-camp of the Buchenwald concentration camp near Leipzig, where she was put to work in an ammunition factory. It was back-breaking work and she breathed in noxious fumes, becoming covered in sores, coughing up blood and losing weight by the day. A female guard from the Helferin Corps, which served as an auxiliary of the SS, took a liking to Vera and arranged for her to be transferred to a hospital unit. There, in addition to changing bedpans and bandages, Vera found medicine for her sores and scabs and her lungs cleared up. Subsequently she was assigned to the canteen and kitchen in one of Buchenwald's sub-camps.

The kitchen job was cushy after the ammunition plant and the women formed a close-knit group, despite the Babel of languages; a good 18 different tongues in the compound from every part of occupied Europe, with German serving as the lingua franca. Even the Aufseherin wasn't unfriendly. They ate well and served both German soldiers and slave laborers in the canteen. Yet Vera's life was shortly made miserable by a squat, greasy man of around 50, a Romanian Jew who hung around the kitchen on occasion. He quickly latched onto Vera and a few of the youngest women when they were busiest, trying to stick his hand under their skirts. The older women yelled at him and kicked his legs, but he was undeterred, pestering one girl after another. Nobody knew who he was or why he was allowed in; clearly, he seemed unhinged, muttering to himself, scratching at his crotch with long, dirty fingernails.

On several occasions he put his hand under Vera's smock - none of the women was allowed underwear - and managed to twice thrust his fingers into her, hurting her terribly. Whenever he succeeded with Vera and others the Romanian shuffled into a corner, sniffed his fingers and masturbated. Disgusted, the older women mocked him. The younger ones were terrified, pleading with the Aufseherin to ban him from the premises, which she did. But less than a week later he was back.

One afternoon when Vera found herself alone in the kitchen, the Romanian came through the back door and advanced on her, grabbing her by the scruff of her neck and again thrusting his hand up between her legs. Vera somehow broke free and raced to a counter, grabbing a sharp knife. Then she turned on him. 

***

As the Red Army broke through in East Prussia and Silesia in early 1945, the German authorities began to think of breaking up the camps inside Germany. Vera was sent to a chemical plant, also a sub-camp of Buchenwald, that made solid fuel for the V-2 rockets which were to strike London and Antwerp. Here the conditions were worse than any she had encountered; bitter cold, virtual starvation, with laborers being whipped or shot if they balked or faltered at the tasks set for them. Apart from carrying heavy packages, Vera and the other women bore water and sparse food for the men so they could eat and drink without breaking the work cadence. Vera herself labored for 12 hours straight, the men longer. Covered anew by sores, wasted by dysentery, her head and shoulders shrouded in blankets, she frequently thought as she trudged between the plant's outposts of allowing herself to fall into the snow and drift blissfully into sleep. 

Everybody lived in fear of air raids because the chemical plant's location was obviously known to Allied intelligence. Finally, when the sound of artillery began to be heard as the Soviets advanced, the Germans ordered survivors among the slave laborers and the women to evacuate the chemical compound. The men were sent to the west to labor in less exposed factories while the women were told to make their way by foot back to the main Buchenwald camp. The SS had melted away and the long column of women was guarded by Volkssturm soldiers who were mainly old men and youths barely out of childhood. The chemical plant had been the furthest sub-camp from Buchenwald and the women had a long march that led them through small, pretty villages. The snow had given way to rain and the weather had turned relatively mild. Some food and water for the women was laid out at the entrance to villages by the authorities and they were allowed to restore themselves briefly. However, the villagers closed their windows to the ragged refugees as they proceeded; they heard only barking dogs and the ever-louder sound of artillery as the front drew closer. Vera saw just a few shadowy figures watching them from behind curtains.

On the way out of villages, however, the column was frequently attacked from the rear by sturdy, adolescent boys who threw stones at them and bellowed insults. On one occasion, they fell upon a straggler and would have beaten her to death had not the Volkssturm soldiers run back to save her. The soldiers, who had been ordered to shoot women who fell by the wayside or tried to escape, slowly became their protectors, and on several occasions fired over the heads of the marauding youths to drive them off.

On the fourth day, as the column approached a rise in the road, they heard engines and a clanking sound that the Volkssturm immediately recognized, and which sent them racing for the nearby woods. On top of the rise a jeep appeared carrying officers, to be followed by a tank and foot soldiers in strange uniform. The military column stopped abruptly to observe them. The women stared, rooted to the spot. The two groups remained frozen as soldiers from other tanks in the column strolled up the hill to see what was holding everyone up. It was obvious none of the soldiers had the least idea of who the women were. Some of the inmates came to realize the soldiers must be British. The Americans were said to be further south. Finally the officers walked towards them, Sten guns at the ready. 

Vera had noticed that three of the older Volkssturm men were hiding behind a hedge as the two groups observed one another. Without knowing exactly why, she called out to them: "They're British. You'd better surrender to them rather than to the Russkies." Two other women shouted the same message and the old Germans dropped their rifles, emerging from behind the bush, their hands up. A woman who spoke German and English negotiated their surrender.

Vera and the others were treated initially by British army medics at Buchenwald, and Vera herself was later transferred to Belsen. It had been cleared of its dead, cleaned and decontaminated. It was now occupied mainly by released war prisoners, among them French officers who had spent nearly five years in stalags. An eerie atmosphere clung over the camp; some likened its unpleasant smell to that of a rotting orange. 

Vera was put in a bunk that proved, despite the decontamination, to still be full of lice. She spent the first night scratching herself. On her second day in Belsen she was summoned to a medical examination. British Red Cross workers had arrived that very morning in the camp and she was ushered into a room, told to take off her bathrobe. She found herself standing naked before two new British nurses and a doctor.

The doctor looked at a file on the desk which bore her particulars.

"It says here that you are 15," the doctor said, as if there was a mistake. Vera didn't understand English so just looked at him. 

They observed her at length. She weighed barely 30 kilos, her body was covered in scabs and raw sores, much of her hair had fallen out, her ribs and hip bones stood out and her small breasts drooped as if sucked of all flesh. What little pubic hair she had had turned grey. She looked like a starved 40 year old.

The nurses looked at each other for a long moment. The face of one suddenly crumpled and she burst into tears, followed by the second. The doctor put a hand to his brow to cover his face. 

Eyeing them coldly, Vera had no idea why they were crying.

***


ERWIN

Erwin was born in Wuppertal in 1938 into a family of certified shits. His father, Rudolf, had been a German army major in the war and boasted about his part in putting down the Warsaw rising in 1944. "We disarmed them and lined them up against the wall. Then shot the bastards, men after the women, bang bang, bang!" he chuckled, savoring the memory. Rudolf's own father, also a German officer, had been stripped of his rank in 1917 after being convicted by court martial of raping two women in France. He had escaped a firing squad only by agreeing to join a suicide mission from which he miraculously emerged intact. He was returned forthwith to the front as an ordinary soldier and was felled by a French sniper on the afternoon of November 10, 1918 less than 24 hours before the armistice. 

The family's black sheep was Gerhard who had joined playwright Ernst Toller in the leftist rising in Munich in 1919 and, like Toller, had later fled to the United State, to spend the war churning out propaganda against the Nazis. Rudolf vowed to kill him if he ever set foot again in Germany. It wouldn't have occurred to the black sheep to ever do so. 

Rudolf one day admitted to a certain admiration for the Red Army, which had driven the Germans back from the gates of Moscow. But he whispered that Hitler's only error had been his failure to finish the job with the Jews. Erwin didn't actually share that view. However, he was still a shit in his own right. 

He was small for his age and, as a boy, was constantly bullied in the school playground. When he returned home in tears he received another smacking from his father for letting bigger boys hit him. "No son of mine backs down from scum like that," Rudolf would shout. "Stand up for yourself!"

Erwin quickly stopped reporting the assaults but his father couldn't ignore his frequent bruises, bloody noses and torn clothing when he sneaked through the door from school. On a Saturday afternoon he sent Erwin across town to visit one of his drinking mates, Horst, a former Waffen SS sergeant who had lost an arm in Normandy, with a request that he toughen the boy up. 

Horst, a hard, barrel-chested man in his 40s who could probably flatten nine men out of 10 with his one remaining arm, told Erwin his small stature wasn't a drawback. "We had an old saying in basic training: "A man's size doesn't matter in a fight. What counts is the fight in a man."

Over several weekends Horst taught the boy how to defend himself with knees, feet, elbows and thumbs, taking care to avoid using fists as he could easily break a finger or knuckle and unnecessarily incapacitate himself. More importantly, he told Erwin how to carry the fight to his tormentors. "Bullies are cowards who use their size to intimidate. Go for them immediately at the least provocation. They won't be expecting it, and when you hurt one or two the others will leave you alone."

He instructed Erwin in the basics of attacking a larger opponent, aiming for the vital parts. But he refrained from teaching him the darkest arts of unarmed combat for fear the boy could do more damage than was called for. 

"All you've really got to do is dominate your fear," the old soldier said. "Fight until they fear you." Erwin also took as serious course in body-building, at Horst's bidding.

He was soon to put the lessons into practice. Taunted by a much bigger boy during recess one afternoon, he hit him in the throat with a flat hand, kicked him in the groin and, as the boy started falling, smashed an elbow into the side of his head. Ewin walked away, leaving his opponent half conscious and sobbing. 

Nobody ever bullied him again at that particular school. His former tormentors now either wanted to become his friend or steered clear of him. He became a hero of sorts to the smaller boys and to girls.

Later, when he attended senior high school and college, Erwin started taking pleasure in fighting, and always gave much better than he received. Standing all of five foot seven, he particularly enjoyed baiting boys over six feet in height and leaving them sprawled on the ground, with a trademark kick to the ribs or head. His reputation for violence spread and he treasured the fear he inspired in others. Erwin always chose his adversaries, of course, so it was not surprising that he won his battles. On occasion, however, he miscalculated. He picked a fight with a student who stood a good six feet four and ended up with a broken nose, thick ear and sore buttocks from a good kicking in the ass. Another time, when he was drunk, he insulted a slight, mild-looking Turk in the street and had to be taken to hospital with a busted shoulder and two very black eyes. On neither occasion did he experience fear or bear the least rancor towards his victors. He took the beatings with something close to pride. 

Erwin was popular with girls, and not merely because of his abilities with his fists. He was blond, with prominent cheek bones and blue eyes and carried himself with a light, self-confident step. He could sum up considerable charm and realized that being considered dangerous by his peers was a distinct asset. He never lacked for bed-mates in his university years.

He was also liked by the male students in his classes who were drawn to him despite - or because of - his aura of suppressed violence. During his senior years at university Erwin found perverse pleasure in bedding the girlfriends of boys in his circle. He took to recording the sessions and - after carefully erasing his own voice - sending the cassette anonymously to the unsuspecting cuckold. 

His procedure was simple enough: seduce the girl, sleep with her once or twice to judge her responses and then secretly switch on the recorder during the next encounter and get her to speak so her voice would be recognized. Usually the recording picked up heavy breathing, groans and moans. But on a few occasions he lit upon particularly exuberant girls who gave full voice to the entire gamut of female lust: gasps, grunts, yelps, wails, whoops, howls and screeches. On one occasion, it ended with a thunderous fart.

While the men didn't know the origin of the tapes, the girls, confronted by angry partners, began talking among themselves and quickly traced the betrayal back to Erwin. He became a pariah on the campus, unable to find a single girl to screw. In his senior year, he was reduced to searching for sex among girls arriving for their freshman year. And once he had one in his clutches he wasn't above using a little force if they resisted his advances. On a Saturday evening, Erwin lured a girl into his room; both were slightly inebriated and he began pawing her. The girl, befuddled, tittering and not entirely unwilling, let herself be stripped naked but when Erwin tried to mount her she refused to open her legs, declaring she was a virgin. Angrily, he grabbed her head and pushed her down to force her to suck him. Gagging, she began but then suddenly grasped his testicles and pulled. Screaming, Erwin struck her across the face, sending her spinning off the bed. Sobbing, bleeding from a split eyebrow, the girl managed to climb back into her clothes and make her escape. Erwin was too paralyzed by pain to try to stop her. 

The girl went to a hospital and then filed a complaint with the police. A few hours later, two uniformed policemen turned up at Erwin's door and marched him to the station. He was charged with battery and rape. Summoned to the police station, his father Rudolf, an uber shit himself, was beside himself with rage. "I didn't raise you to rape and beat up girls, you little swine!" he screamed.

But Rudolf was also protective and once he had cooled down he made contact with the girl's family and paid it handsomely to get her to withdrew the rape charge. Erwin was released on bail after 36 hours. 

"It's time that you made yourself scarce," the father said that night. Although Erwin hadn't yet finished his degree at the university, he knew his academic days were over and that he had no choice but to agree.

He had always been good with languages - his English was excellent and he'd picked up some Russian - so the father and son decided Erwin should work on his French during a year or two in Paris. He set off with a tidy allowance and the feeling that much of interest lay ahead.

***




End of sample




    To search for additional titles please go to 

    
    http://search.overdrive.com.   


OEBPS/image/cover.jpg
F(/ 48

y LVGM? AwMM

| I\

hlk

sand Ale

.

and death in Pari

Love, betrayal

««

3

gcrmn war.

the Al

al months of

fin

n





